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I. INTRODUCTION

"Ellen Cotter, Margaret Cotter, and Guy Adams Motion for Summary Judgment"
(the "Ratification MS]") argues that certain Reading International, Inc. ("RDI" or the
"Company") directors, pursuant to NRS 78.140, "ratified" certain prior conduct that
remains at issue in this case and that, because the Court previously had determined that
no disputed issues of material fact existed regarding their independence with respect to
the matters raised in motions for partial summary judgment, those directors are
independent for the purposes of the Ratification MS] which, they argue, therefore should
be granted. The Ratification MS] must be denied for a number of independent reasons,
including the following;:

NRS 78.140 has no application here and, even if it did, would not warrant the
relief sought by the Ratification MS]. By its terms, NRS 78.140 applies solely to contracts
and transactions between the corporation, here RDI, and the interested directors and/or
officers, here, Ellen Cotter, Margaret Cotter and Guy Adams. Here, neither of the matters
purportedly ratified are contracts or transactions between RDI and any or all of those
defendants. Moreover, even if NRS 78.140 applied here, which it does not, it requires any
decision made pursuant to it be made by independent directors acting in good faith.

Unlike the motions for partial summary judgment, in which Plaintiff bore the
burden of proof on the issue of the independence of individual directors who sought to
invoke the business judgment rule, here the moving party bears the burden of proving (i)
the independence of the board members whose actions and/or decisions serve as the
basis for the relief sought, and (ii) that those directors conducted a good faith and
thorough investigation. The Ratification MS] fails to satisfy either of those burdens.

With respect to the independence of the directors whose conduct serves as the
basis for the Ratification MS], /it proffers no evidence whatsoever. That failure alone
requires denial. Moreover, the record evidence shows a lack of independence, as a matter
of fact and law. First, the "independent" directors here relied entirely on "advice" from
counsel representing RDIL Courts repeatedly have found that the use of company counsel

evidences a lack of independence of the supposedly independent committee and/or
1
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individual directors who do so. Second, other factors considered in determining directér
independence also show a lack of independence, as shown below.

With respect to whether the directors whose conduct serves as the basis for the
Ratification MSJ conducted a thorough investigation in good faith, resulting in an
informed decision-making process, the sole evidence proffered in support of the Motion
is the minutes of the December 29, 2017 board meeting, as if defendants had succeeded in
concealing from Plaintiff and the Court the hasty, sham exercise that preceded that
meeting and resulted in the preordained result, "ratification.” What the belatedly
produced evidence and privilege logs show is that the "ratification" scheme was
conceived by GT lawyers, who first obtained approval from defendants Ellen Cotter and
Margaret Cotter to pursue it, and then "advised" supposedly independent directors to
"ratify" certain conduct the Court previously found to be actionable, all for the purpose of
creating a purported basis on which to seek dismissal of this derivative action.

For their part, not one of the supposedly independent board members undertook
in good faith to make an informed decision; instead, each did as he or she was "advised"
by the conflicted lawyers on whom they mistakenly relied. Indeed, privilege log entries
appear to indicate that RDI in-house counsel Craig Tompkins and defendant Ellen Cotter
herself at least reviewed if not provided input regarding the operative language of
Gould's December 27, 2017 email. Of course, that became the operative language of the
agenda for the December 29, 2017 board meeting and, ultimately, the draft minutes
which serve as the basis for the ratification MSJ.

Independent of the foregoing, the purported ratification with respect to the
exercise of the so-called 100,000 share option by its terms does not "ratify" the disputed
determination regarding ownership of the purported option, which remains at issue in
this case. That alone also requires denial of the Ratification MS].

Separately, Plaintiff is entitled to relief under NRCP 56(f). Plaintiff is still
reviewing and analyzing privilege logs and documents produced on May 30 and 31,
2018, as well as thousands of pages of documents produced on Saturday, June 9, 2018,

Monday and Tuesday, June 11 and 12, and anticipates receiving a further supplemental
2
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privilege log to be produced on or about June 13, 2018. The Court previously ruled that
Plaintiff is entitled to time to review such material to determine what further discovery if
any Plaintiff needs. Given the significance of the responsive documents not disclosed
(produced and or logged) until the very end of May 2018, and in view of the
supplemental productions of June 9, 11 and 12, 2018, as well as the advice that a
supplemental and/or superseding privilege log will be produced on or about June 13,
2018, Plaintiff is entitled to Rule 56(f) relief.

Finally, if the Court does not deny the Ratification MSJ or provide Plaintiff with
Rule 56(f) relief, Plaintiff is entitled to and requests an evidentiary hearing with respect to
both issues as to which defendants bear the burden of proof, namely, independence and
a thorough investigation conducted in good faith. Shoen v. SAC Holding Corp., 122 Nev.
621, 645,137 P.3d 1171, 1187 (2006). As the record (including from May 2, 2018
evidentiary hearing) makes clear, questions of fact and credibility, the latter on the part
of both the "independent" directors and their conflicted counsel, predominate.
II. STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

A. Creation and Delegation of Authority to the SIC

In August 2017, the RDI board of directors to (the "Board") authorized the
formation of a "Special Independent Committee” (the "SIC" or "SLC"). (See Ex. 1 hereto,
RDI's February 23, 2018 Form 8-K.) On or about February 23, 2018, RDI filed a Form 8-K
with the SEC. That Form 8-K attached and disclosed publicly for the first time the
Charter of the SIC. (Id. at Ex. 99.2) (The charter was admitted as defendants' Ex. B at the
May 2, 2018 evidentiary hearing.) Section IV of the Charter describes the responsibilities
and duties of the SIC, including the authority delegated to it with respect to this
derivative action and other lawsuits (defined therein as "Cotter Related Proceedings").
The Charter states in relevant part as follows:

RESPONSIBILITIES AND DUTIES

To fulfill its responsibilities and duties, the [SIC] is authorized to, in its discretion:

e o e e e 5 3 3 S S o S S S e S 3 2
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ii. ... [I]nstruct legal counsel representing the Company to take
certain actions, including but not limited to, file pleadings or other
papers, appear in any proceedings... and otherwise take such steps
as the [SIC] deemed to be in the best interest of the Company in any
Cotter Related Proceedings [which includes this derivative action]
or

ifi. Participate in and direct legal counsel representing the
Company to conduct negotiations and take actions to resolve
matters related to the Cotter Related Proceedings...

iv. Report to the Board, as it determines to be appropriate (subject
to the maintenance of attorney-client privileges and with due
regard for and the institution of appropriate safeguards in order to
take into account any conflicts of interest that may exist involving
other members of the Board and without limiting its delegated
authority under this Charter), its recommendations and
conclusions with respect to the determinations delegated to it by
this Charter; and

v. Take all such other actions as the [SIC] may deem to be necessary
or appropriate in connection with the above.

S0 0 22002 2 0 O MO M S

The [SIC] shall have the authority to enter into or bind the Company in
connection with a Cotter Related Proceedings... provided, however,
that the [SIC] shall not have any authority to ...approve any
merger, consolidation or liquidation of the Company.

(Id.) (Emphasis supplied.)

B. The Inception of "Ratification" With the SIC.

According to deposition testimony of former defendants and current RDI directors
Douglas McEachern ("McEachern") and William Gould ("Gould"), the subject of
ratification was first raised with them by lawyers from Greenberg Traurig ("GT").
McEachern testified that the subject of ratification was raised "in late Fall sometime of
2017," at which time it was tabled. (See Ex. 7 hereto, McEachern 2/28/18 dep. tr. at 548:21-

550:1.) McEachern explained that the "main focus was on the termination of Jim Cotter,
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Jr." (Id.) McEachern also testified that "ratification" was within the purview of the SIC's

responsibilities, as follows:

“[1]t was delegated to the [SIC] to handle this type of matters. We were
approving [ratification]...."

(Id. at 507:1-508:2, 546:1-10.) (Emphasis supplied.)

Gould testified that the first communication he had regarding ratification was
telephonically in mid or late November 2017 with GT lawyers Michael Bonner ("Bonner")
and Mark Ferrario ("Ferrario"). (See Ex. 6 hereto, Gould 4/5/18 dep. tr. at 509:13-15.)
Gould testified that "ratification" was within the scope of his responsibilities as Chair of

the SIC, as follows:

' "I was the chairman of the special [independent] committee and [GT
lawyers Bonner and Ferrario] were discussing [ratification] with me in my
capacity as the chairperson of that committee."

(Id.)
C. GT Previously Cleared "Ratification" With Defendants Ellen and Margaret
Cotter.
1. Late 2016 and Early 2017
For the first time on May 30 (and 31), 2018, GT produced supplemental privilege
logs jointly on behalf of RDI and the five dismissed directors. The May 30 log discloses
for the first time what apparently were communications in November or December 2016 and
January 2017 regarding "ratification,” among other things. (Although the log entries are
deficient on their face, the inclusion of them in the log must mean that they concern
"ratification.") The first entry, dated November 22, 2016, is an email from Craig
Tompkins, who then was special counsel to Ellen Cotter as CEO of RDI (Ex. 18 to Plaintiff
James J. Cotter Jr.'s Motion to Compel, Filed on June 8, 2018 ("JJC 6/8/18 Motion")),
Tompkins 10/18/17 dep. tr. at 60:1-12), to GT attorneys Bonner and Ferrario, copied to
Ellen Cotter, the subject of which is "alternative approaches: attorney-client privileged
attorney work product communication." (See Ex. 2 to JJC 6/8/18 Motion, entry ending in

71278.) The next entry is a December 7, 2016 email from Ferrario to Tompkins and Quinn

Emanuel attorneys Marshall Searcy and Christopher Tayback, the subject of which is the

5
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attached "option memo." (See id., entry ending in 67300.) The next two entries are dated
January 6 and 7, 2017, concern "alternative litigation resolution approaches” and are
between Tompkins and Bonner, and copied to Ferrario and to Ellen Cotter. (See id., entries
ending in 71290 and 64891.)
2. December 2017.
In December 2017, before seeking and securing approval of "ratification” from the

"

SIC on December 21 (described below), GT lawyers cleared the "ratification" "process"
with Margaret Cotter, Ellen Cotter and Tompkins.! On December 13, 2017, Ferrario and
Bonner exchanged emails with Tompkins, which emails were copied to Ellen Cotter,
regarding the subject of a "Special Committee." (See Ex. 1 to JJC 6/8/18 Motion, entry
ending in 60907 and 60911; see also Ex. 3 to JJC 6/8/18 Motion, GT May 31, 2018 privilege
log, entries ending in RDI 73538, 76569, 76783.) Those emails are described as
"Communication[s] regarding Ratification process.” (Ex. 1 to JJC 6/8/18 Motion, entries
ending in 60907 and 60911.)

Again on December 15, 2017, Bonner exchanged emails with Tompkins, which
emails also were copied to Ellen Cotter, regarding "Misc." (See Ex. 1 to JJC 6/8/18 Motion,
entries ending in 60823 and 60824.) Those emails are described as "Communication(s]
regarding ratification process." (Id.)

Also on December 15, 2017, Ferrario discussed the subject of ratification with
Margaret Cotter in person. (See Ex. 16 to JJC 6/8/18 Motion, Margaret Cotter's February 14,
2018 Interrogatory Responses, No. 2.) (Margaret Cotter's interrogatory responses
disclosed this communication regarding "ratification,” but not others described herein.)

On December 21, 2015, Bonner sent an email to Tompkins, copied to Ellen Cotter
and Ferrario, regarding "special committee/stockholder action alternatives."” (See Ex. 1 to

JIC 6/8/18 Motion, entry ending in 60533.) Ellen Cotter at her deposition acknowledged

1As to Craig Tompkins, RDI's General Counsel to whom GT attorneys report, Kane at deposition explained that the
words he used in an email stating "according to [Ellen Cotter], Craig is also on the 'team[,]' meant that Tompkins "was
[with] Ellen and Margaret versus Jim." (See Ex. 14 to JJC 6/8/18 Motion, Kane 5/2/16 dep. tr. at 176:18-177:1; Ex. 17
to JIC 6/8/18 Motion (Dep. Ex. 105).) .
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receiving this email. (See Ex. 9 to JJC 6/8/18 Motion, Ellen Cotter 4/4/18 dep. tr. at 479:21-
480:6.)

D. The SIC Approves "Ratification.”

The SIC met telephonically with GT attorneys Bonner and Ferrario on December
21, 2017. (See Ex. 5 to JJC 6/8/18 Motion, redacted minutes of that December 21, 2017
meeting; see also GT May 31, 2018 Privilege log, entries CN 2075, 2174, 2494, 2504, 2634.)
As described below, they approved "ratification" of the two decisions which thus became
the subject of "ratification” votes at the December 29, 2017 Board meeting.

McEachern testified that the SIC at the December 21, 2017 telephonic meeting
approved ratification in an effort to "resolve" certain issues that remained in this

derivative action, stating as follows:
“[1]t was delegated to the [SIC] to handle this type of matters. We were
approving [ratification]. ... I think we had a call [on December 21,
2017] to talk about a couple issues that were still existing in this -- in
this derivative case by Jim Cotter, Jr., and we were trying to address
them in a fashion to resolve them."

(See Ex. 7 hereto, at 507:1-508:2, 546:1-10.) (Emphasis supplied.)

With respect to the December 21, 2017 SIC meeting, Gould testified that the SIC
"formally [took] action" to advance "ratification.” (See Ex. 5 hereto, at 529:10-18.) As to the
purpose of the "ratification(s),” Gould admitted that "ratification might be a litigation
strategy" employed in this derivative action (in an effort to create a basis upon which to
seek dismissal in advance of trial). (See id., at 541:15-18.)

With respect to the December 21, 2017 SIC meeting, Codding testified that Bonner
and/or Gould explained the notion of ratification with respect to the two matters later
taken up at the December 29, 2017 Board meeting. Codding testified that the SIC
approved "ratification,” explaining that she did not distinguish between the process or
fact of "ratification" and the merits of the two "ratification" decisions (that defendants

claim were made at the December 29, 2017 Board meeting). (See Ex. 4 hereto, at 205:24-
207:4.) .
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E. GT Works With Tompkins and Ellen Cotter to Effectuate the "Ratification"
by "Independent" Directors

The next day, December 22, 2017, GT lawyers followed through with the
ratification scheme. Ferrario's assistant sent emails, one to Tompkins' assistant and one to
Ellen Cotter's assistant, regarding "call re letter for special committee meeting re
ratification." (See Ex. 2 to JJC 6/8/18 Motion, at entries RDI 67258 and64872.) Tompkins
responded and an email chain ensued. (See Ex. 1 to JJC 6/8/18 Motion, entries ending in
60258, 60260, 60262, 60265 and 60267.) (The "letter for special committee meeting re
ratification” it appears to refer to what came to be the December 27, 2017 email from

Gould purportedly on behalf of the five "independent” Directors.)

F. The December 27, 2017 Email Was Prepared by Litigation Counsel With
Input From Tompkins and Probably Ellen Cotter, But Not Gould, and Not
the "Independent” Directors, Who Did Not See It Before It Was Sent.

On December 27, 2017, Bonner and other GT lawyers exchanged emails with
Tompkins about one or more drafts of what came to be the December 27, 2017 email? sent
by Gould, ‘purportedly on behalf of the five dismissed directors. Several privilege log
entries describe the emails as "Communication regarding draft letter re Special Board
Meeting." (See Ex. 1 to JJC 6/8/18 Motion, entries ending in 57090, 59768, 59899, 59911,
59912, 59959, 60790, 60802 and 60810.) Also on December 27, 2017, Tompkins and GT
lawyers exchanged the subjects of which were "Ratification," and which are described as
"Communication[s] regarding draft letter re Special Board Meeting" or
"Communication[s] regarding Special Meeting Request." (See id., entries ending in 60404,
60408, 60412, 60424, 60428, 60450, 60464, 60843, 60846.)

Several of the December 27, 2017 emails with the subject "Ratification" also were
copied to Ellen Cotter. (See id., entries ending in entries ending in 60450, 60452, 60464 and
60846; Ex. 2, 5/30/18 privilege log, entries ending in RDI 68619, 68626, 70083, 70095.)

2 That email was marked as Dep. Ex. 527 and Ex. P-1 from the 5/2/18 evidentiary
hearing. It is attached as Ex. 6 to the JJC 6/8/18 Motion.
8
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After receiving responses from Tompkins and possibly Ellen Cotter regarding the
draft of what came to be Gould's December 27, 2017 email, GT attorney Bonner on
December 27, 2017 sent Gould an email, with a copy to GT attorney Ferrario, the "re" line
of which réad "FW: for Bill Gould to sign," which RDI's privilege log also describes as
"communication regarding draft letter re Special Board Meeting." (See id., entries ending
in 59792 and 59937.) (Emphasis supplied.)

At his deposition, Gould identified the December 27, 2017 email® which was sent
shortly before 8:00 p.m. Pacific by Marcia Wizelman, Gould's assistant, to Ellen Cotter, as
the notice ("call") by the five dismissed directors for "ratification" be raised and approved
at the next regularly scheduled board meeting. (See Ex. 5 hereto, at 530:2-10.) Gould
testified that he did not draft or edit the December 27, 2017 email, but rather that it was
drafted by GT attorneys Bonner and Ferrario. (Id. at 530:18-25.)

However, none of the five other than Gould saw the December 27, 2017 email
(Dep. Ex. 527) prior to their depositions. McEachern testified with respect to Dep. Ex. 527
that "I don't recall having seen this before, but I do recall speaking in our [December 21,
2017] special committee [meeting] with Bill Gould and ]udy Codding about asking to
have this done." (See Ex. 7 hereto, at 544:3-8.) Codding's testimony was to the same effect.
(See Ex. 4 hereto, at 231:7-232-5.) Wrotniak testified that he did not recall seeing Dep. Ex.
527 prior to preparing for his deposition. (See Ex. 10 hereto, at 91:17-92:4.) Kane also
testified that he had no recollection of seeing Dep. Ex. 527 prior to his deposition. (See Ex.
11 hereto, at 681:14-19.)

G. The December 27 Email was the Source of the "Ratification" Agenda for the
December 29, 2017 Board Meeting.

The text of December 27, 2017 email was used to prepare the corresponding
portion of the agenda for the December 29, 2017 board meeting. (See 5/2/18 hearing tr. at
56:25-57:5; Ex. 9 to JJC 6/8/18 Motion, Ellen Cotter dep. tr. at 485:9-486:3.) The February

3 Ex. 6 to JJC 6/8/18 Motion, marked as Dep. Ex. 527 and as Ex. P-1 from the 5/2/18
evidentiary hearing.
9
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22,2018 privilege log also identified an email exchange between Bonner with Tompkins,
Ellen Cotter, Gould, and GT litigators regarding "Draft for your review," which was
described as a "Communication regarding notice and agenda for upcoming board
meeting," (See Ex. 1 to JJC 6/8/18 Motion, entries ending in 60777 and 60780); see also id.,
entry ending in 60273, described as "[cJommunication re draft board meeting materials.")

That agenda* was distributed at approximately 5:30 p.m. Pacific on December 27,
2017. The draft minutes of the December 29, 2017 meeting® reflect that they were
prepared in part by copying from the agenda, which was prepared in relevant part based
upon the December 27, 2017 email.

H. "Independent" Directors Approved "Ratification" to Terminate this Action.

1. Gould

Gould testified that the key factor in his vote to ratify the termination of Plaintiff
as President and CEO of RDI was that this derivative litigation already had occurred. (Ex.
5 hereto, at 544:10-545:17.) He explained that he had voted against the termination of
Plaintiff because the directors had given Plaintiff "a period of time to have his
performance monitored, and then there would be an evaluation by the board. The actual
termination occurred maybe a month before that. I viewed that as a mistake...[a]nd
secondly, at the time I was worried... that would lead to extensive, expensive litigation,
which turned out to be the case." He concluded that "the litigation has occurred, so I can
take that factor out of my equation..." (Id.) Thus, Gould voted to "ratify" for reasons
unrelated to the merits of the subjects of "ratification," and instead did so in furtherance
of what he admitted was a "litigation strategy" for dealing with this derivative action. (Id.
at 541:15-18.) Gould testified that "[m]y vote would be to terminate, to terminate the
derivative action." (Id. at 547:17-19, 548:19-23.) He acknowledged that the reason he
would vote to terminate this derivative action is that he was a defendant. (Id. at 548:24-

549:4.)

* The agenda was marked as Dep. Ex. 525, and is attached as Ex. 7 to JJC 6/8/18
Motion.

5 The draft minutes were marked as Dep. Ex. 526, and are attached as Ex. 21 hereto.
10
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2. McEachern

With respect to his support for "ratification," McEachern testified as follows:
"And I believe we had - I think we had a [Special Independent
Committee] call [on December 21, 2017] to talk about a couple of
issues that were still existing in this -- in this derivative case by Jim

(%totter, Jr., and we were trying to address them in a fashion to resolve
them."

(Ex. 7 hereto, McEachern 2/28/18 dep. tr. at 506:23-507:12.) (Emphasis supplied.)

When asked how the "ratification" vote would "resolve" issues remaining in this
derivative action, McEachern acknowledged that the "ratification" vote was to "cure any
issue anybody might think existed." (Id. at 507:13-508:2.) McEachern likewise testified
that he would "vote to dismiss the [derivative] lawsuit. (Id. at 526:14-21.)

3. Codding

Codding testified that the first time she learned of "ratification" was the
(telephonic) SIC meeting (of December 21, 2017). (Ex. 4 hereto, at 206:16-207:4.) When
asked if there was any discussion bearing upon the merits of the ratification decision as
distinct from the fact of ratification, Codding testified there was no distinction in her
mind. (Id. at 205:8-207:14.)

Codding identified Bonner and Ferrario and Quinn lawyers Tayback and Searcy
as lawyers who have spoken to the SIC. (Id. at 217:24-215:3.) She testified that the SIC has
never discussed engaging its own independent counsel. (Id.)

With respect to "ratification" of the decision to terminate Plaintiff as President and
CEO of RDI, Codding admits that she does not know if the (May 21 and 29, 2015 and
June 12, 2015) minutes included as part of Exhibit 525, the Board package for the
December 29, 2017 meeting, are accurate. (Id. at 222:14-25.) She admitted that she was not
present and therefore does not know when Adams, Kane and McEachern determined to
vote to terminate Plaintiff as President and CEO. (Id.) Codding also admitted that she
had never heard that Plaintiff was told at the May 29, 2015 meeting that the meeting

would reconvene telephonically at 6 p.m. and that, if he had not resolved his differences

11
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with his sisters, they would proceed with the termination vote. (Id. at 229:20-230:2.)°
Codding's understanding of what exactly she voted to ratify with respect to the
termination of Plaintiff was that RDI would not hire him as the CEQ; and to ratify the
vote that was taken to not have him as the CEO. (Id. at 230:10-21.)

Prior to voting in favor of "ratification" with respect to the 100,000 share option,
Codding had no discussions with Kane or Adams about what they did or did not do as
Compensation Committee members in determining to authorize the exercise of the
100,000 share option. (Id. at 258:6 — 15.)

As to her efforts generally to make an informed decision about the matters to be "ratified,”
Codding admitted she has not read any deposition transcript in this case other than her own and
has not looked at any deposition exhibits other than from her own deposition. (Id. at 230:3-9.)

In response to the question of whether she would vote to allow the derivative
lawsuit to proceed, she answered "I don't think it should go forward."” (Id. at 234:12-17.)
She explained that she did not see the purpose of it or understand it. (Id.) When asked if her
decision to vote in favor of "ratification” reflected her view of this derivative action, Codding
testified that she could not answer the question without disclosing an attorney client
communication. (Id. at 232:19-233:1.)

4. Wrotniak

Wrotniak first learned that "ratification" would be taken up at the December 29,
2017 Board meeting from a telephone call he and Codding had with Ferrario and Bonner.
Wrotniak described the subject matter of the call as the agenda for the December 29
meeting and “protection for Reading.” (Ex. 10 hereto, Wrotniak 3/6/18 dep. tr. at 41:2-42:25.)

6 Prior to May 19, 2015, Adams and Kane (and McEachern) communicated to EC and/or between or among
themselves their respective agreement to terminate Plaintiff as President and CEO. (Ex. 13, Ellen Cotter 6/16/16 Dep.
Tr. 175:17-176:8; Ex. 8, Storey 2/12/16 Dep. Tr. at 96:5-97:4; 98:21-100:8, 100:14-101:11; Ex. 2, Adams 4/28/16
Dep. Tr. at 98:7-17, 98:18-99:22, Ex. 3, Adams 4/29/16 Dep. Tr. 368:15-370:5; Ex. 9, Storey 8/03/16 Dep. Tr. at
66:22-67:20; and Ex. 19 hereto, Dep. Ex. 131). Kane emailed Adams in which Kane agreed to second a motion for
Plaintiff's termination, if necessary. (Ex. 16, Dep. Ex. 81.) Meanwhile, Gould and Storey objected that the directors
had not undertaken an approptiate process regarding any decision to terminate Plaintiff as President and CEO, and
requested that the directors meet prior to the May 21, 2015 meeting. (Ex. 20, Dep. Ex. 318, and Ex. 17 hereto, Dep
Ex. 116.) Kane replied that there was no need to meet as "the die is cast." (Ex. 18, Dep. Ex. 117) The May 21, 2015
meeting was adjourned until May 29, 2015 at 11:00am. That meeting was then adjourned until 6:00pm that evening,
and Plaintiff was told that he needed to resolve his disputes with his sister by then or he would be terminated. (Ex. 14
hereto, JJC Decl. ]15).

12
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The call lasted less than an hour and occurred in the days before the December 29 Board
meeting. (Id. at 44:3-22.) The May 31, 2018 privilege log includes entries that appear to
indicate that the call occurred on December 28, 2018. (Ex. 3 to JJC 6/8/18 Motion, at entries
RDI 76466 and 76469.) Wrotniak testified that "[i]t was agreed" in that call that the
December 29 Board meeting would include "ratification." (See Ex. 10 hereto, at 87:7-22.)

Wrotniak received Dep. Ex. 525, the Board package for the December 29, 2017
(telephonic) Board meeting, at or about 8:30 p.m. Eastern on December 27, 2015. (Ex. 10,
at 39:17-40:19.) That was the first time he had seen the agenda. (Id.)

In explaining why he voted to ratify the termination of Plaintiff as President and
CEO of RDI, Wrotniak testified that he relied on the May 21 and 29, 2015 and June 12,
2015 Board minutes included in the Board package. (Id. at 71:18 — 72:6.) With respect to
the board minutes, he testified that he recalled noting "that approximately a week had
passed, giving everybody time to pause and to think[,]" but he admitted that he had no
information regarding whether anyone did so. (Id. at 62:20 - 63:20.)

As for what actually happened in connection with the termination of Plaintiff,
Wrotniak does not know. He does not recall ever learning that Adams, Kane, McEachern
and Ellen Cotter had agreed prior to the May 21, 2015 meeting to vote to terminate
Plaintiff. (Id. at 49:16 — 15:18.) For example, he testified he had never seen Dep. Ex. 81
(Ex. 16 hereto), the Kane May 18, 2015 email to Adams that memorializes their (prior)
agreement to vote to terminate Plaintiff. (Ex. 10, at 50:19-51:2.)

As to the May 21 and 29, 2015 and June 12, 2015 Board minutes that were the
stated basis for his "ratification" vote, Wrotniak admitted that he has no basis upon which
to determine whether those minutes are accurate or fairly depict what transpired. (Id. at
74:8-22.) (In fact, those minutes are rife with inaccuracies, as former director Tim Storey

confirmed.)”

7 (Ex. 9 hereto, Storey 8/03/16 Dep. Tr. at 81:22 — 82:6; see also Ex. 15 hereto, Dep. Ex. 17 (Storey Handwritten
notes from meeting))
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Likewise, Wrotniak never heard or learned that, when the May 29 meeting
recessed to be reconvened telephonically at 6:00 p.m., Plaintiff was told that he needed to
resolve his disputes with his sisters, failing which the termination vote would proceed
when the meeting reconvened. (Ex. 10, at 65:10 - 18.)®* Wrotniak saw that the May 29
minutes referenced an agreement in principle, but he has never communicated with
anyone about that. (Id. at 66:3 — 13). Wrotniak does not know whether a vote to terminate
Plaintiff would have occurred had Plaintiff resolved his disputes with his sisters. (Id. at
67:3-13.) Wrotniak likewise has no understanding how the June 12 meeting came to be
scheduled. (Id. at 66:20-24.) Wrotniak does not recall ever talking to Gould about what
happened at the May 21 and 29, 2015 and June 12, 2015 meetings. (Id. at 65:19-66:2.)

With respect to his "ratification"of the use of RDI Class A nonvoting stock as
consideration for the exercise of the 100,000 share option, Wrotniak did not recall taking
any steps to inform himself other than reading Exhibit 525, the board package. (Id. at
79:3-7.) Wrotniak does not recall having heard anything about a pour over will or trust,
including whether it caused the 100,000 share option to be held or owned by the Trust
rather than the Estate. (Id., at 82:2-17.) Wrotniak testified that "that would have impacted
my investigation and thought process." (Id. at 82:18 — 83:10.) Wrotniak had no
communications with Kane or Adams about what they did in 2015 in response to the
request to exercise the 100,000 share option. (Id. at 83:11-1.)

As for his efforts generally to make an informed decision about the matters “ratified,”
Wrotniak testified that he has not read any of the deposition transcripts in this derivative case and
has not talked with anyone about their deposition testimony. (Id. at 51:17-22)

Finally, Wrotniak testified that he has no understanding of the import or significance of
the two ratification votes that occurred on December 29, 2017 beyond what he was told by GT
lawyers Ferrario and Bonner. (Id. at 88:12-23.)

8 See evidence cited at footnote 3, supra.
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5. Kane

Kane voted to "ratify" both matters raised at the December 29, 2017 board meeting.
(Ex. 11 hereto, Kane 4/20/18 dep. tr. at 686:11-13.) In doing in doing so, he voted in favor
of decisions he had made previously. (Id. at 686:14-16.) In voting to "ratify," Kane
acknowledged that he thought he was correct when he made the original decisions and
that he therefore voted for "ratification." (Id. 686:14-16.) With respect to how he would
vote on whether this derivative lawsuit should proceed or be terminated, Kane answered
"terminate it tomorrow, please sir." (Id., at 686:14-16.)

I. What Was Not "Ratified" Regarding the 100,000 Share Option.
1. Ownership of the 100,000 Share Option Remains an Issue in the Case.

Plaintiff contends Kane and Adams, in breach of their fiduciary duties, authorized
Ellen Cotter as an executor of the estate of James J. Cotter, Sr. (the "Estate") to exercise a
supposed option to acquire 100,000 shares of RDI class B voting stock (the "100,000 share
option") so that EC and MC could prevail in the event non-Cotter shareholders challenged
them at RDI's 2015 Annual Stockholder Meeting ("ASM"). (See Second Amended Complaint
("SAC"), 11 10, 102 — 108.) More particularly for present purposes, Plaintiff claims that Kane
and Adams breached their fiduciary duties by failing to take proper steps to determine
ownership of that option. (SAC ({10, 107.) As the Court knows from prior motion
practice, Kane and Adams failed to obtain independent advice, failed to obtain a judicial
decision authorizing the exercise, and failed to obtain answers to the questions Kane
posed regarding whether the Estate owned the 100,000 share option.® Plaintiff claims that
these failures constitute breaches of fiduciary duty, independent of the use of RDI class A
nonvoting stock as consideration for the exercise of the 100,000 share option. (SAC {10,
102-108; Plaintiff's May 18, 2018 Pre-Trial Memo Section II.B.2)

As explained by Kane, both in emails produced in this case by defendants and in
his deposition testimony, the issue(s) the compensation committee members needed

resolved to authorize (or not authorize) the exercise of the 100,000 share option included

? See Ex. 2 hereto, Adams 4/28/18 Dep. Tr. at 215:24-216:22, 218:3-219:2, 220:9-20; Ex. 6
hereto, Kane 5/2/16 Dep. Tr. at 94:19-95:20, 100:23-102:21, 104:13-23.
15
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the threshold issue of whether that option was the property of the James J. Cotter, Sr.
Trust (the "Trust"), as RDI's Proxy Statement in 2014 and years prior had stated and as
Plaintiff contended, or whether it was the property of the Estate, as Ellen Cotter
contended. In an April 17, 2015 email, Kane summarized the issue(s) as whether there
was "any legal reason why Ellen [Cotter], as executor, could not exercise" the share
option. (See E-mail from Kane to Tompkins, Ellen Cotter, Margaret Cotter, Tim Storey,
and Guy Adams, Apr. 17, 2015, 22:44, Exhibit 16 to James Cotter Jr's Reply in support of
Motion to Reconsider Order, at 186.) In another email, Kane identified a particular legal
issue as whether, by operation of the Trust documents of James J. Cotter, Sr. (under
California law), the 100,000 share option had poured over into his Trust upon his death.
(See E-mail from Kane to Storey, Apr. 18, 2015, 12:26, Exhibit 19 to James Cotter Jr's Reply
in support of Motion to Reconsider Order, at 194.)

As Plaintiff previously demonstrated and the Court found, Adams and Kane testified
that the sole basis upon which they concluded that the Estate owned the 100,000 share option
was the substance of the advice of counsel, including attorney Craig Tompkins ("Tompkins"),
at the time a Company "consultant" (and former officer), and the law firm of GT (collectively,
"Company Counsel"). (Ex. 2 hereto, at 215:24-216:9 and 220:9-221:2); Ex. 6 hereto, at 94:19-
95:20, 100:23-102:21 & 104:13-23)

2. Only the Use of RDI Class A Nonvoting Stock as Consideration for the
Exercise of the 100,000 Share Option Was "Ratified."

The December 27, 2017 email prepared by GT lawyers (and reviewed if not edited
by Tompkins and Ellen Cotter) and sent by Gould's assistant on behalf of the five
"independent" directors (Dep. Ex. 527), the agenda for the December 29, 2017 RDI board
meeting (Dep. Ex. 525), and the minutes from that meeting (Dep. Ex. 526) each describe
the "ratification" of the exercise of the 100,000 share option as concerning only the use of

RDI class A nonvoting stock as a consideration. Each reads as follows:

"The ratification of the decision of the Compensation Committee, as
outlined in the Minutes of the September 21, 2015 Meeting of the
Compensation Committee, to permit the estate of James J. Cotter, Sr.

16
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to use Class A nonvoting stock as a means of payment for the
exercise of the option to purchase 100,000 shares of Class B voting
stock of RDL."

III. ARGUMENT

A. The Ratification MS]J Is Untimely.

As described above, the Court previously denied the Ratification MS] because the
failure to file it in a timely manner was not shown to be excused. Nothing in the Motion
provides an excuse for the failure to timely file the Ratification MSJ. The Motion does not
even contend, much less show, that the very same choreography, and the same
purported ratifications, could not have occurred in time to have been the subject of a
timely summary judgment motion.

On the contrary, it now is clear from McEachern's testimony described above that
defendants chose not to pursue "ratification” when doing so would have enabled them to
file a summary judgement motion based thereon in a timely manner, but instead "tabled"
it. The Motion therefore should be denied.

B. NRS 78.140 Does Not Apply to the Matters Purportedly "Ratified."

The Ratification MSJ argues that "independent” members of the RDI board
"ratified" prior conduct of certain of them in terminating Plaintiff as President and CEO
of RDI in 2015 and-later in 2015 in authorizing the acceptance of RDI class A nonvoting
stock as consideration for the exercise of the 100,000 option. NRS 78.140 is the sole
authority upon which they rely.

However, under the plain meeting of NRS 78.140, it applies solely to transactions
between the corporation and interested directors and/or officers. NRS 78.140 provides in
relevant part as follows:

Restrictions on transactions involving interested directors or officers;
compensation of directors.

1. A contract or other transaction is not void or voidable solely because:
(a) The contract or transaction is between a corporation and.

(1) One or more of its directors or officers; or
17
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(2) Another corporation, firm or association in which one or more of
its directors or officers are directors or officers or are financially
interested;

(b) A common or interested director or officer:

(1) Is present at the meeting of the board of directors or a committee
thereof which authorizes or approves the contract or transaction;
or

(2) Joins in the signing of a written consent which authorizes or
approves the contract or transaction pursuant to subsection 2 of
NRS 78.315; or

(c) The vote or votes of a common or interested director are counted for the
purpose of authorizing or approving the contract or transaction, if one of
the circumstances specified in subsection 2 exists.

2. The circumstances in which a contract or other transaction is not void or
voidable pursuant to subsection 1 are:

(a) The fact of the common directorship, office or financial interest is
known to the board of directors or committee, and the directors or
members of the committee, approve or ratify the contract or
transaction in good faith.

NRS.78.140 (emphasis supplied).

NRS 78.140 has no application here, as the plain language of the statute, italicized
above, shows. Clearly, the purpose of NRS 78.140 is to create a path for the approval of
director or officer self-interested transactions with the corporation that might otherwise
be void or voidable. The specific language of subsection (1)(a) makes clear that, for the
statute to apply, there must be a contract or transaction between a corporation and one or
more of its directors or officers (or corporations with which they are affiliated in certain
ways). Only that situation triggers the remaining provisions of Section 1, which are
qualified by section (1)(a) and must be read in conjunction with section (1)(a). The
"contract or transaction” in subsections (1)(b) and (1) (c) indisputably refers to the

contract or transaction described in (1)(a), which is a contract or transaction between a
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corporation and one or more of its directors or officers. Such a transaction is not void or
voidable, and the participation of the interested directors or officers as contemplated by
subsections (1)(b) and (1)(c) is permitted, if the board or committee ratifies the contract or
transactioﬁ in good faith as set forth in subsection (2).

Delaware's substantially similar counterpart, DGCL §144, likewise is limited to
contracts or transactions between a corporation and its directors and officers (or other

corporations in which its directors or officers have a financial interest):

(a) No contract or transaction between a corporation and 1 or more of its
directors or officers, or between a corporation and any other corporation . . . in
which 1 or more of its directors or officers, are directors or officers, or have a
financial interest, shall be void or voidable [a] solely for this reason, or [b] solely
because the director or officer is present at or participates in the meeting of the
board or committee which authorizes the contract or transaction, or [c] solely
because any such director's or officer's votes are counted for such purpose, if:

(1) The material facts as to the director's or officer's relationship or interest and
as to the contract or transaction are disclosed or are known to the board of
directors or the committee, and the board or committee in good faith
authorizes the contract or transaction by the affirmative votes of a majority of
the disinterested directors, even though the disinterested directors be less than
a quorum; or

(3) The contract or transaction is fair as to the corporation as of the time it is
authorized, approved or ratified, by the board of directors, a committee or the
stockholders.

See, e.g., Cinerama, Inc. v. Technicolor, Inc., 663 A.2d 1156, 1169 (Del. 1995) (§ 144 "deals
with the related problem of the conditions under which a corporate contract can be
rendered 'un-voidable' solely by reason of a director interest"). There is no basis under
either NRS 78.140 or the parallel Delaware statute for applying the statute other than to a
contract or transaction between the corporation and one or more directors or officers.

As the Ratification MS] itself asserts, the purported ratifications were not of a
contract or transaction between RDI and the Cotter sisters (or defendant Guy Adams).
The first subject of "ratification" was the 2015 board vote to terminate Plaintiff as CEO of

RDI. While, of course, the Cotter sisters and therefore Guy Adams were interested in the
19
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outcome of the termination vote, the matter "ratified" did not involve a contract or
transaction between any of them and RDI.

The same is true with respect to the purported ratification of the 2015 decision by
Kane and Adams to authorize acceptance of Class A non-voting stock as consideration
for the exercise of the 100,000 share option. By its terms, the "ratification” was not of the
underlying option agreement (between the Company and James J Cotter, Sr.). Nor did
"ratification" concern the validity (or ownership) of that assumed contractual right.
Rather, the "ratification" addressed only the subject of the consideration for the exercise.

Thus, the subject of the "ratifications” was not a contract or transaction between
RDI and its directors or officers. NRS 78.140 therefore is inapplicable.

Even if, arguendo, NRS 78.140 were to apply, that does not mean that the so-called
"ratification" was effective here. First, NRS 78.140(2)(a) requires that any decision
pursuant to that statutory provision be made by independent directors acting in "good
faith." As demonstrated herein, there are at a minimum disputed issues of material fact
with respect to whether the "ratifying" directors were independent, and whether they
acted in good faith and on an informed basis.

Second, the Ratification MS] simply assumes without explanation or authority that
actionable conduct can be cured by "ratification.” However, it cites absolutely no
authority for such proposition. Shoen v. SAC Holding Corp., 122 Nev. 621, 137 P.3d 1171
(2006), which it cites, is not authority for such a proposition. In Shoen, the Nevada
Supreme Court merely cited NRS 78.140 as "governing interested director transactions.”
Shoen, 122 Nev. at 636 n. 34, 137 P.3d at 1181 n. 34. Defendants in Shoen did not assert
ratification as a defense or rely on NRS 78.140. And, in contrast to the so-called
ratification here, Shoen did not involve a board's "ratification” of a prior decision by the
board or board committee. Rather, Shoen involved a web of interested business dealings
and transactions between the corporation (Amerco) and the SAC entities that were
controlled by certain directors of Amerco. Thus, Defendants fail to cite any case applying
NRS 78.140, let alone a case applying it outside of a contract or transaction between a

corporation and its director or officer
20
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For the reasons explained above, NRS 78.140 by its terms does not provide for
curing actionable conduct; it merely provides for authorization of interested director
contracts or transactions by independent directors acting in good faith on an informed
basis.

C. The Moving Party Bears the Burdens of Proof.

1. The Moving Party Bears the Burden of Proving That the "Independent”
Directors "Resorted in Good Faith to an Informed Decision-Making Process."

Although the actions of the "independent" directors have been depicted for
litigation purposes as "ratification," they are the type of actions taken by a special
litigation committee seeking dismissal of a derivative action. The reason that the
Ratification MS] does not refer to the "independent” directors as such is because their acts

m"on

and omissions over the few days in which the "ratification" "process" was executed
evidence a wholesale failure to perform a good faith and thorough investigation leading
to good faith and informed "ratification" decisions.

Where, as here, relief is sought based on the conduct of a subset or committee of a
board of directors to whom or which decision-making authority has been delegated, the
movant bears the burden of proving that those directors conducted a good faith and
thorough investigation. Jacksonuville Police and Fire Pension Fund v. Brokaw (In re DISH
Network Derivative Litig.), 401 P.3d 1081, 1088 (Nev. 2017). In assessing "whether an
individual director or Board of Directors acted in good faith and, in turn whether
protection under the business judgment rule is available[,]" the Court may and should
conduct an "inquiry into the procedural indicia of whether the directors resorted in good
faith to an informed decision making process." Wynn Resorts, Ltd. v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct.,
399 P. 3d. 334, 343 (Nev. 2017 (citing WLR Foods, Inc. v. Tyson Foods, Inc., 857 E. Supp. 492,
494 (W.D. Va. 1994)). This includes, among other things, "inquiry into the identity and
qualifications of any sources of information or advice sought which bear upon the
decision reached, the circumstances surrounding selection of the sources [and] the

general topics ... of the information sought are imparted..." Id.
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Moreover, evidence that "the investigation [by a special committee of supposedly
independent directors] has been so restricted in scope, so shallow execution, or otherwise
so pro forma or halfhearted as to constitute a pretext or sham... would raise questions of
good faith or conceivably fraud which would never be shielded by [the business
judgment] doctrine." In re DISH Network Derivative Litig., 401 P.3d at 1092 (citing and
quoting Auerbach v. Bennett, 47 N.Y.2d 619, 419 N.Y.5.2d 920, 393 N.E.2d 994, 1003 (1979)).

2. The Moving Party Also Bears the Burden of Proving the
Independence of the "Ratifying"” Directors

A board of directors may "delegate to a committee of disinterested directors the
board's power to control corporate [derivative] litigation." Kaman v. Kemper Fin. Servs.,
Inc., 500 U.S. 90, 102 (1991). Such a committee typically is called a special litigation
committee or an "SLC." Beam v. Stewart, A.2d 1040, 1055 (Del. 2004).

Where, as here, that has occurred, the moving party also bears the burden of
proving the independence of board members whose actions and/or decisions serve as the
basis for the relief sought. In re DISH Network Derivative Litig., 401 P.3d at 1088, 1089.
Therefore, the District Court "should not presume [a special litigation committee] to be
independent nor require the derivative plaintiff to bear the burden of proof" with respect
to the issue of independence. Id. at 1089.

Put differently, the party seeking dismissal of a derivative action based upon the
actions or recommendations of a board committee "bears the burden of persuasion” and
must "demonstrate that no material factual question exists regarding... independence [of
the committee members]." In re Oracle Corp. Derivative Litig., 624 A.2d 917, 920 (Del. Ch.
2003). The test of committee member independence is whether connections between
them and the directors who are the subject of the committee's decision "would weigh on
the mind of a reasonable special litigation committee member." Id. at 947. If so, those
connections "generate a reasonable doubt about the [committee members'] impartiality
because they suggest that material considerations other than the best interests of [the

corporation] could have influenced the[ir] inquiry and judgments." Id. Thus, the District
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Court must "assess whether any improper influences prevented the SLC from impartially
considering thé merits of a derivative suit before recommending it be dismissed." Ir re
DISH Network Derivative Litig., 401 P.3d .at 1090.

Unlike the motions for partial summary judgment, in which Plaintiff bore the
burden of proof with respect to the issue of the independence of individual directors who
sought to invoke the business judgment rule, here the moving party bears the burden of
"establishing... independence by a yardstick that must be 'like Caesar's wife -- above
reproach." Beam v. Stewart, 845 A.2d 1040, 1055 (Del. 2004).

For the foregoing reasons, this Court's prior determinations that Plaintiff had
failed to raise disputed issues of material fact regarding the independence of the five
directors with respect to the matters that were the subject of motions for partial summary
judgment does not and cannot excuse the moving party here from satisfying its burden
of proof with respect to their independence. Simply put, both the burdens of proof and
the substantive standards applicable here are different than those which were applicable
to the motions for partial summary judgment.

Additionally, if the Court does not deny the Ratification MS], Plaintiff is entitled to
and hereby requests an evidentiary hearing with respect to both issues as to which
defendants bear the burden of proof, namely, independence and a thorough
investigation conducted in good faith. Shoen, 122 Nev. at 645, 137 P.3d at 1187. As the
record (including from May 2, 2018 evidentiary hearing) makes clear, questions of fact
and credibility, the latter on the part of both the "independent” directors and their
conflicted counsel, predominate.

D. The Ratification MSJ Satisfies None of the Burdens of Proof It Bears.

As demonstrated below, the Ratification MSJ fails to satisfy the burdens of
proving that there are no disputed issues of material fact with respect to both (i) the
independence of the "ratifying" directors, and (ii) whether those directors who approved
"ratification" as a result of a good faith, thorough investigation that enabled them to

make a good faith, informed decision.
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1. Use of Company Counsel Establishes a Lack of Independence, as a
Matter of Law and Fact

Courts repeatedly hold that the use of company counsel, whether by special
committees or other supposedly independent directors, raises questions about the
independence of the advisors and, thereby, the committee and the individual directors.
Gesoff v. IIC Industries Inc., 902 A.2d 1130, 1147 (Del. Ch. 2006), subsequent proceedings,
2006 Del. Ch. LEXIS 161, 2006 WL 2521441 (Del. Ch. Aug. 22, 2006) ("[A] special
committee's decision to use the legal and financial advisors already advising the parent
'alone rais[ed] questions regarding the quality and independence of the counsel and
advice received")(citing In re Tele-Communications, Inc. Shareholders Litig., 2005 WL
3642727 (Del. Ch. Dec. 21, 2005)); see generally William T. Allen, Independent Directors in
MBO Transactions: Are They Fact or Fantasy?, 45 BUS. LAW. 2055 (1990). Thus, courts reject
determinations made by directors based on advice of counsel where such advice may be
tainted by a conflict of interest. In re Oracle Securities Litig., 829 F. Supp. 1176, 1189 (N. D.
Cal. 1993) (a board committee reliance on the inherently biased advice of in-house
counsel made the committee's determination "worthless.")

In In re Par Pharm., Inc. Derivative Litig., 750 F. Supp. 641 (5.D.N.Y. 1990), the
nominal defendant company moved to dismiss after a special litigation committee
conducted an investigation and recommended dismissal, and the supposedly
independent members of the company's board of directors accepted that
recommendation and voted to dismiss. The court denied the motion to dismiss, in part
because "the Committee failed to retain independent counsel," "but instead relied upon
the firm [that represented the Company] and its board in th[at] litigation.” Id. at 644, 647.
The court described that counsel as having a "conflict of interest . ..." Id. at 647. With
respect to the jurisprudence, the Court observed that "[bJoth New York and Delaware
law contemplate that a special litigation committee be represented by independent
counsel." Id. (citing Spiegel v. Buntrock, 571 A.2d 767, 772 (Del. 1990); Kaplan v. Wyatt, 484
A.2d 501, 511 (Del. Ch. 1984), aff'd, 499 A.2d 1184 (Del. 1985); Byers v. Baxter, 69 A.D. 2d
343, 348, 419 N.Y.S. 2d 497, 500 (App. Div. 1979)).
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Here, the "independent” directors have relied entirely on "advice" from Company
Counsel, who face actual, pervasive and debilitating conflicts arising from the fact that
the Company that employs and pays them is controlled by the Cotter sisters.

As to Craig Tompkins, RDI's General Counsel who reports to Ellen Cotter and to
whom GT attorneys report, Kane testified that he (Kane) understood that Tompkins was
on the side of Ellen Cotter in her disputes with Plaintiff, as well as that he (Kane) was of
the view that "Tompkins always acted in his own self-interest." (See Ex. 12 hereto, Kane
dep. 6/9/16 dep. tr. at 427:3-9, 428:2-9 and 432:13-25.) In the former regard, Kane at
deposition explained that the words he used in an email stating "according to [Ellen
Cotter], Craig is also on the 'team[,]' meant that Tompkins "was [with] Ellen and
Margaret versus Jim." (See Ex. 6 hereto Kane 5/2/16 dep. tr. at 176:18-177:1, and Ex. 17 to
JJC 6/8/18 Motion (Dep. Ex. 105))

As to GT, GT lawyers ignored the conflicts with which they are faced and
consistently acted to further the interests of the individuals who control the Company
and employ them as Company counsel, both in this action and in the board room.

GT as counsel of record for nominal defendant RDI has acted vigorously to
terminate this case, thereby protecting and pursuing the interests of the Cotter sisters.
This began with a contrived motion to compel arbitration (following the filing of a
contrived arbitration) and included, among other things, motions to dismiss and motions
for summary judgment asserting bases available only to individual defendants.

During the pendency of this action, GT repeatedly has "advised" "independent”
directors, who have acted in reliance on GT's advice in making decisions that benefit
Ellen and Margaret Cotter, who control RDI, which employs and pays GT. For example,
GT in 2015 "advised" Kane and Adams, to work around rather than address the issue of
ownership of the so-called 100,000 share option.

With respect to the purported "ratification,” GT lawyers actually viewed their

client as the Company. GT attorney Bonner testified as follows:
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BY MR. FERRARIO:

Mr. Bonner, you currently work at Greenberg Traurig; correct?

Yes.

And is a company called Reading International a client?

Yes. It's a client of our firm.

Okay. And are you the principal contact for that client?

Yes.

Okay. And in your capacity as a lawyer for that client do you get involved with
something called the special independent committee of the board of directors of Reading
International, Inc.?

A Yes.

(See Ex. 15 to JJC 6/8/18 Motion, 5/2/18 hearing tr. at 19:3-16.) (Emphasis supplied.)

O>»0 >0 »0

In view of the foregoing, there can be little if any doubt that "ratification" is a

"litigation strategy" hatched by GT lawyers for use in this derivative action for the benefit

‘of defendants Ellen Cotter and Margaret Cotter. As described above, GT lawyers cleared

"ratification” with Ellen Cotter, Margaret Cotter and Tompkins before "advising" SIC
committee members Gould, McEachern and Codding at the (previously concealed)
telephonic SIC meeting on December 21, 2017 that and how to use "ratification" as a
"litigation strategy." Next, GT lawyers provided Tompkins and Ellen Cotter drafts of
what came to be Gould's December 27, 2017 email on behalf of the "independent”
directors requesting that the two "ratification” matters be approved at the board meeting
on December 29, 2017. Presumably in an effort to avoid the open issue of the reliance of
Adams and Kane on GT's 2015 "advice" as the sole basis for their conclusion regarding
ownership of the 100,000 share option, the December 27, 2017 email omits that issue.
Most recently, GT lawyers have withheld evidence in discovery, the effect of
which was to conceal the actual "ratification” "process." Nevertheless, the May 30 and 31
supplemental productions and (facially inadequate) privilege logs reveal that
"ratification" was a "litigation strategy" approved by Ellen Cotter, Margaret Cotter and
Tompkins, and that the "independent” directors simply did what GT lawyers told them
to do. To that end, GT lawyers belatedly prepared the minutes of the December 21, 2017
SIC meeting, but excluded the portion of the meeting concerning "ratification." They also

failed to produce or log those minutes.
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Now, the lawyers who "advised" the "independent” directors are asserting
attorney-client privilege, on behalf of the Company, with respect to their
communications with those directors in an effort to render the actual basis for the
"independent" directors' "ratification" decisions ("advice" from conflicted counsel)
undiscoverable. Tellingly, in the face of such conflicts, GT has not advised the
"independent"” directors to seek advice from independent counsel.

As the foregoing shows, the record béfore the Court shows that the "independent”
directors lacked independence or, at a minimum, raises disputed issues of material fact
about their independence that require denial of the Ratification MS].

2. Other Factors Also Show a Lack of Independence

Courts have identified a number of factors to be considered in determining the
independence of directors as members of special litigation committees. Several of those
factors weigh decidedly against a determination of independence.

One such factor is whether the directors were members of the corporation's board
at the time of the alleged wrongdoing. In re KLA-Tencor Corp. Shareholder Derivative Litig.,
No. C06-03445 JW Slip Op. at 5, 7 (N.D. Cal. Dec. 11, 2008) (finding a lack of
independence because one of two committee members was a member of the board
during the alleged wrongdoing). Gould, McEachern and Kane each were members of the
Board at the time of all complained of actions, and Codding and Wrotniak were board
members at the time of several of the complained of actions.

Another factor is whether the directors participated in the alleged wrongdoing.
Grynberg v. Farmer, 1980 WL 1456, at *6 (D. Colo. Oct. 8, 1980). A similar factor is whether
they approved the conduct or transaction involving the alleged wrongdoing. KLA-
Tencor, Slip Op. at 5, 7. Here both are the case for each of the five insofar as he or she was
a Board member at the time.

And, critically here, whether the committee received advice from independent
counsel also is a factor. In re Par Pharm. Inc. Derivative Litig., 750 F. Supp. at 644 (denying
motion to dismiss the derivative action where the committee "did not obtain independent

legal counsel but instead relied upon... counsel for [the nominal defendant corporation]
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and its Board in this litigation.") As discussed above, none sought or obtained the advice
of independent counsel but, instead, accepted and relied on the advice of conflicted
Company Counsel. |

Finally, statements "conflating the SLC and the Company" also weigh against a
finding of independence. KLA-Tencor, Slip Op. at 5, 7. Here, there are statements by
Company Counsel (Bonner's testimony identifying RDI as his client in his dealings with
the SIC) that do so, and statements by directors (e.g., Wrotniak's "protection for Reading”
statement) that do so.

In view of this evidence, there exists at a minimum disputed issues of material fact

regarding their independence, which requires denial of the Ratification MSJ.

3. The Evidence Shows an Inadequate if Not Fraudulent Process
Undertaken in Bad faith in Furtherance of a Preordained Result

Discovery to date, including as described above, shows that the "ratification”
scheme was conceived by GT lawyers, who first obtained approval from defendants
Ellen Cotter and Margaret Cotter to pursue it, and who then "advised" "independent"
directors to "ratify" certain conduct the Court previously found to be actionable.
Dutifully "advised," SIC members Gould, Codding and McEachern on December 21, 2017
each agreed after a brief telephonic discussion claimed privileged to approve
"ratification." Next, GT attorneys worked with Tompkins and EC to draft the December
27, 2017 email Gould sent, purportedly on behalf of the "independent" directors, to
approve "ratification" of two matters. With respect to that email, Gould had no input into
the contents, and the other four did not even see it until their depositions in this case.
Wrotniak first heard about "ratification” on December 27 or 28, 2017, when he spoke
telephonically with GT attorneys Bonner and Ferrario, who told him that "ratifying" prior
conduct would be on the agenda for the December 29, 2017 board meeting. Kane's
agreement was foregone, because it was his decisions that were being "ratified." As
Gould acknowledged at his deposition, "ratification” is a "litigation strategy." The

evidence shows that the preordained purpose of that "litigation strategy,"” which was
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hastily carried out by "independent” directors in reliance on advice from conflicted
counsel. 7

When combined with the ongoing efforts of defense counsel to conceal what
actually transpired with respect to the purported ratifications, the evidence presents a
clear picture of a sham or fraudulent exercise undertaken to reach a preordained
conclusion, namely, "ratification” as a "litigation strategy" intended to bring about the
dismissal of this derivative action.

Thus, defendants have failed to bear the burden of showing that the
"independent" directors engaged in a good faith, informed decision-making process
leading to good faith, informed, disinterested and independent decisions. The
Ratification MS]J therefore must be denied, for this reason alone.

E. "Ratification" Did not Address All of the Issues Arising from the
Authorization of the Exercise of the 100,000 Share Option

As described above, and as admitted by Kane at the time, a threshold issue in
determining whether to authorize the exercise of the 100,000 share option was whether
that option was owned by the Estate. However, the "ratification” is confined to the use of
RDI class A nonvoting stock as consideration for the exercise. Thus, the purported
ratification does not eliminate the authorization of the exercise of the 100,000 share
option as an issue in this case.

F. Plaintiff is Entitled to Rule 56(f) Relief

Where a plaintiff properly identifies additional facts necessary to oppose a
summary judgment motion and seeks additional time to obtain that discovery, summary
judgment is improper. Aviation Ventures, Inc. v. Joan Morris, Inc. 121 Nev. 113, 117-18, 110
P.3d 59, 62 (2005). Where it is "unclear whether genuine issues of material fact exists,” a
Rule 56(f) continuance allows for "proper development of the record." Aviation Ventures,
121 Nev. at 115, 110 P.3d at 60. Here, due to the delay of Responding Parties in providing
court-ordered discovery, Plaintiff through no fault of his own is not yet in a position to

present all "facts essential to justify the party's opposition." For the reasons set forth
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above and in the accompanying declaration of Mark G. Krum, Plaintiff is entitled to
NRCP 56(f) relief.
IV. CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiff respectfully submits that the Ratification

MS]J should be denied.

MORRIS LAW GROUP

By: _/s/ AKKE LEVIN

Steve Morris, Bar No. 1543
Akke Levin, Bar No. 9102

411 E. Bonneville Ave., Ste. 360
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

Mark G. Krum, Bar No. 10913
YURKO, SALVESEN & REMZ, P.C.
1 Washington Mall, 11th Floor
Boston, MA 02108

Attorneys for Plaintiff
James J. Cotter, Jr.
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

Pursuant to Nev. R. Civ. P

. 5(b)(2)(D) and E.D.C.R. 8.05, I certify that [ am an

employee of MORRIS LAW GROUP and that on the date below, I cause the following

document(s) to be served via the Court's Odyssey E-Filing System: PLAINTIFF'S

OPPOSITION TO ELLEN COTTER, MARGARET COTTER AND GUY ADAMS'

MOTION FOR SUMMMARY JUDGMENT (BASED ON RATIFICATION");

DECLARATION OF MARK G. KRUM, to be served on all interested parties, as

registered with the Court's E-Filing and E-Service System. The date and time of the

electronic proof of service is in place of the date and place of deposit in the mail.

Stan Johnson Donald A. Lattin
Cohen-Johnson, LL.C Carolyn K. Renner
255 East Warm Springs Road, Ste. 110 Maupin, Cox & LeGoy
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 4785 Caughlin Parkway
Reno, Nevada 89519
Christopher Tayback
Marshall Searcy Ekwan E. Rhow
Quinn Emanuel Urquhart & Sullivan LLP Shoshana E. Bannett
865 South Figueroa Street, 10th Floor Bird, Marella, Boxer, Wolpert, Nessim,

Los Angeles, CA

Attorneys for /Defendants Edward Kane,

Douglas McEachern, Judy Coddi
Wrotniak

Mark Ferrario

Kara Hendricks

Tami Cowden

Greenberg Traurig, LLP

3773 Howard Hughes Parkway
Suite 400 North

Las Vegas, NV 89169

Drooks, Lincenberg & Rhow, P.C.
1875 Century Park East, 23rd FL
Los Angeles, CA 90067-2561
ng, and Michael
Attorneys for Defendant William
Gould

Attorneys for Nominal Defendant Reading

International, Inc.

DATED this 13* day of July, 2018.

By: /s/ JUDY ESTRADA
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DECL

MORRIS LAW GROUP

Steve Morris, Bar No. 1543

Akke Levin, Bar No. 9102

411 E. Bonneville Ave., Ste. 360
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
Telephone: (702) 474-9400
Facsimile: (702) 474-9422
Email: sm@morrislawgroup.com
Email: al@morrislawgroup.com

Mark G. Krum, Bar No. 10913
Yurko, Salvesen & Remz, P.C.
1 Washington Mall, 11th Floor
Boston, MA 02108

Telephone: (617) 723-6900
Facsimile: (617) 723-6905
Email: mkrum@bizlit.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff
James]. Cotter, Jr.

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

JAMES ]J. COTTER, JR,, derivatively on ) Case No. A-15-719860-B
behalf of Reading International, Inc., ) Dept. No. XI
)
Plaintiff, ) Coordinated with:
V. )
) Case No. P-14-0824-42-E
MARGARET COTTER, ELLEN COTTER,) Dept. No. XI
GUY ADAMS, EDWARD KANE, )
DOUGLAS McEACHERN, WILLIAM ) Jointly Administered
GOULD, JUDY CODDING, MICHAEL )

WROTNIAK, ) DECLARATION OF MARK G. KRUM
) PURSUANT TO NRCP 56(f) AND IN
Defendants. ) OPPOSITION TO SUMMARY
) JUDGMENT MOTIONS
And |
READING INTERNATIONAL, INC,, a ) .
Nevada corporation, ) Hearing Date: June 19, 2018

Nominal Defendant. ) Hearing Time: 8:30 a.m.

)
)
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I, Mark G. Krum, declare:

1. I am an attorney with Yurko, Salvesen & Remz, P.C., counsel for plaintiff
James J. Cotter, Jr. (“Plaintiff”). I make this declaration based upon personal knowledge,
except where stated upon information and belief, and as to that information, I believe it
to be true. If called upon to testify as the contents of this declaration, I am legally
competent to testify to its contents in a court of law.

2. The Motion for Summary Judgment filed on June 1, 2018 by defendants
Ellen Cotter, Margaret Cotter and Guy Adams (the “Ratification MS]”) is predicated on
the assumption that, because the Court found no disputed issues of material fact with
respect to the disinterestedness of certain directors for the purposes of the matters raised
in partial summary judgment motions argued on December 11, 2017, those directors
therefore are disinterested and independent for all purposes, including for the purposes
of the “ratification” on which the Ratification MS]J is based.

3. The Motion for summary judgment regarding demand futility filed on June
4, 2018 by counsel of record for nominal defendant Reading International, Inc. (“RDI”) is
predicated on the same assumption.

4, Because disinterestedness and independence are questions of fact, Plaintiff

” 1

is entitled to discovery, including regarding the “ratification” “process,” as the Court
found on January 8, 2018 and ruled on May 2, 2018, when the Court ordered RDI and
former defendants (the “Responding Parties”) to provide additional documents and
information with respect to “ratification” and matters related thereto, described below.

5. Likewise, Plaintiff is entitled to discovery regarding whether the “ratifying”
directors acted in good faith and on an informed basis, which also are questions of fact.

L

That discovery likewise concerns the “ratification process.”

6. On or about January 12, 2018, Plaintiff issued subpoenas to the Responding
Parties and document requests and interrogatories to the remaining defendants. By the
end of February 2018, all but Gould purported to have produced or listed on a privilege

log all responsive documents. Additionally, the remaining defendants provided
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interrogatory responses.

7. As the Court knows from prior motion practice, Counsel for Plaintiff
learned for the first time at depositions of SIC members Doug McEachern, Judy Codding
and William Gould of a meeting of the “Special Independent Committee” of the RDI
board of directors (the “SIC”) in December 2017 at which “ratification” had been
discussed and “formally” approved.. As the Court also knows from prior motion
practice, counsel for Plaintiff specifically requested that counsel for the Responding
Parties produce minutes of that December 2017 SIC meeting.

8. Finally, on or about April 12, 2018, minutes of what turned out to be a
December 21, 2017 SIC meeting were produced for the first time. However, they were
produced in a wholly redacted form.

9. As a result of the foregoing, among other efforts on the part of the
remaining defendants and Responding Parties to frustrate Plaintiff’s ability to obtain

7 4

discovery regarding the “ratification” “process,” Plaintiff filed a motion for “omnibus
relief.” That motion was heard on April 30, 2018, at which time the Court ordered an
evidentiary hearing, which occurred on May 2. At the end of the May 2 hearing, the
Court granted Plaintiff’s motion for omnibus relief in part, ordering that the Responding

Parties produce and/or log all documents responsive to three categories of information,

as follows:
THE COURT: ... So three categories, [i] the 12/21 special
committee meeting, whether its scheduling, content, scope,
minutes, whatever, related to that meeting; [ii] P-1 [the 12/27/18
email], whether its subject matter, preparation, drafting, circulation,
how we're going to get it on the agenda for the 12/29 meeting; and
the third item is [iii] any discussion of ratification, not limited by
time.
(5/2/18 hearing tr. at 79:6-13.) (Emphasis supplied.)
10.  The Court on May 2, 2018 also granted the remaining defendants motion to
file what is the now filed Ratification MSJ, but instructed them not to file it until after
they had complied with the Court’s May 2, 2018 order and also had afforded counsel for

Plaintiff sufficient time to review and analyze the documents and privilege logs ordered
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produced, and to then determine whether Plaintiff needed further discovery. In this

regard, the Court stated as follows:

THE COURT: Yeah. SoI want Mr. Krum, instead of me
facing a 56(f) issue at the time you file that motion, he's ready to file
his opposition, I want him to have the opportunity to get these
documents with the privilege logs, look at them, and then have a
period of time he can decide

whether he needs to take additional depositions and, if you
fight about it, for me to rule on it. So I'm going to grant your request
even though I am hesitant to do so under the circumstances, but I
don't want to be in a position where you guys slow play them and
then I'm sitting back here again that he didn't get the stuff

(5/2/18 hearing tr. at 81:6-16.)

11.  OnJune 1 and 4, 2018, respectively, the remaining defendants filed the
renewed Ratification MS]J and RDI file the renewed Demand Futility MS]. As described
below, what the Court sought to avoid has happened. The remaining defendants and the
Responding Parties have slow played Plaintiff, whose counsel has not an opportunity to
do what he is entitled to do and what the Court ordered he be afforded the opportunity
to do.

12. OnMay 30 and 31, 2018, Greenberg Traurig (“GT"), for RDI and/or for the
Responding Parties, made supplemental productions of thousands of pages of
documents and produced two (facially deficient) voluminous, supplemental privilege
logs. Dozens upon dozens of documents relating to one or more of the foregoing three
categories have been withheld based on claims of attorney-client privilege, the work
product doctrine, or both, as reflected by entries on those privilege logs. As
demonstrated in a separate motion, Plaintiff seeks the production of those documents,
asserting that those documents are not privileged and are not properly claimed to be
subject to work product protect:ion and, even if they were subject to proper claims of
privilege and/or work product protection, both were waived.

13. Howéver, even if the documents listed on the May 30 and 31, 208 privilege
logs are properly withheld based on claims of attorney-client privilege, work product or

both, they must be properly logged so counsel for Plaintiff is able to use the entries on the
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privilege logs for the various purposes for which they are required, including to examine
witnesses (who claim not to recall) to learn what communications were had between and
among the counsel for RDI, the remaining defendants and/or the Responding Parties
with respect to the three subject matters of the Court’s May 2, 2018 order. Because the
May 30 and 31, 2018 privilege logs suffer from several facial deficiencies, including the
failure to identify each sender and recipient by name, and the failure to describe the
subject matter of the documents logged in terms that are not so general as to be
meaningless, counsel for Plaintiff is unable to use those to logs even identify the subjects
matter of dozens upon dozens of logged communication, much less examine witnesses to
confirm the subject matters and/or the participants.

14.  On]June 6, 2018, I met and conferred telephonically with counsel for RDI
and the remaining defendants and the Responding Parties (except for Gould) regarding
the May 30 and 31 document productions and privilege logs. On June 8, counsel for RDI
advised that the responding parties would be making supplemental productions of
documents and would provide a revised privilege log.

15.  On Saturday, June 9, 2018, GT made a further supplemental production of
documents, producing over 2000 pages of documents. Counsel for Plaintiff has not
completed the review of those documents, but it appears that they are largely if not
entirely draft SEC filings and email communications regarding those drafts.

16.  About the close of business on June 11, 2018, GT made another
supplemental production of documents, the total volume of which is in excess of 3000
pages. The documents were password protected and counsel for Plaintiff was not
provided with password until June 12. Faced with deadlines for oppositions to the
recently renewed summary judgement motions, counsel for Plaintiff did not review those
documents yesterday or today.

17. Last night, at approximately 8 p.m. Pacific on Tuesday, June 12, 2018, GT
made another supplemental production of documents, the total volume of which appears

to be over 1000 pages. Counsel for Plaintiff has not yet reviewed these documents.
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18. Also on June 12, 2018, GT attorney Kara Hendricks advised that a
supplemental and/or superseding privilege log would be produced today, June 13, 2018.
It has not been produced at the time of completion of this declaration..

19.  Counsel for Plaintiff will need time to complete the review of documents
produced on June 9, 2018, and to commence and complete the review of documents
produced on June 11 and 12, 2018. Counsel for Plaintiff likewise 